United Nations Ac.esasr 18

N
\\/‘ )y Fifty-fourth session 20 December 1999
E\S:=274 L English

7 Official Records Original: French

Sixth Committee

Summary record of the 18th meeting
Held at Headquarters, New York, on Wednesday, 27 October 1999, at 3 p.m.

Chairman: Mr. MochoChOKO ... ... . (Lesotho)
later: Ms. Hallum (Vice-Chairman) ............. .. ... ... ...... (New Zealand)
Contents

Agenda item 155: Report of the International Law Commission on the work of its
fifty-first session (continued)

Thisrecord is subject to correction. Corrections should be sent under the signature of a member of the
delegation concerned within one week of the date of publication to the Chief of the Official Records
Editing Section, room DC2-750, 2 United Nations Plaza, and incorporated in a copy of the record.

Corrections will be issued after the end of the session, in a separate corrigendum for each Committee.

99-81947 (E)



A/C.6/54/SR.18

The meeting was called to order at 3.15 p.m.

Agenda item 155: Report of the International Law
Commission on the work of its fifty-first session
(continued) (A/54/10 and Corr.1 and 2)

1.  Mr. Galicki (Chairman of the International Law
Commission), introducing Chapter V11 of thereport of the
Commission (A/54/10and Corr.1and 2), onjurisdictional
immunities of States and their property, said that the
General Assembly, initsresolution 53/98 of 8 December
1998, had decided to establish at itsfifty-fourth session a
working group of the Sixth Committee to consider
outstanding substantive issuesrelated to the draft articles
on jurisdictional immunities of States and their property.
Thereport of theWorking Groupwasannexedtothereport
of the Commission, which had adopted the suggestions
contained in it; consequently, the suggestions should be
regarded as the Commission’ s own suggestions.

2. Paragraphs 10 to 30 of the Working Group’ s report
referred tothe” concept of Statefor purposeof immunity”,
and paragraphs 22 to 30 contained the Commission’s
suggestionsonthat subject. Asexplainedin paragraph 11,
under paragraph 1 (b) (ii) of article 2 of the draft adopted
on second reading by the Commission “constituent units
of federal States” fell within thedefinition of a“ State” for
the purposes of the draft articles. That provision had been
the subject of controversy between federal Statesand non-
federal States, particularly with regard to the problem
resulting from the potential dual capacity of constituent
units to exercise governmental authority on behalf of the
State or on their own behalf, pursuant to the distribution
of public power betweenthe State anditsconstituent units
accordingtotherelevant constitution. Thediscussionshad
focused on whether constituent units of federal States
should, throughtheir inclusioninthenotion of “ State”, be
entitledtotheimmunity of the Statewithout any additional
requirement, when they were acting on their own behal f
and in their own name.

3. When examining that issue, some members of the
Working Group had felt that there should beaparallelism
betweentheprovision concerningthe* concept of Statefor
purposeof immunity” inthedraft articlesonjurisdictional
immunity of States and the draft articles on State
responsibility. Althoughsomemembershadfeltthat it was
not necessary to establish afull consistency between the
two sets of draft articles, it was considered desirable to
bring that draft article into line with the draft on State
responsibility.

4.  TheCommissionsuggestedthedel etion of paragraph
1(b) (ii) of draft article 2 so that the element * constituent
unitsof afederal State” would join“political subdivisions
of the State” in current paragraph 1 (b) (iii). Furthermore,
the Commission suggestedthat thequalifier phrase” which
areentitledto perform actsinthe exerciseof thesovereign
authority of the State” could apply both to “constituent
units of afederal State” and to “political subdivisions of
the State”. The Commissional so suggested that the phrase
“providedthat it wasestablishedthat that entity wasacting
inthat capacity” shouldbeaddedtotheparagraph, between
brackets for the time being.

5. A final suggestion by the Commission concerning
article 2 wasthat the expression “ sovereign authority” in
the qualifier should be replaced by the expression
“governmental authority”, to align it with contemporary
usage and the terminology used in the draft articles on
State responsibility. Such suggestions allowed for the
immunity of constituent units, while at the same time
addressing the concern of Statesthat found the difference
intreatment between theconstituent unitsof Federal States
and political subdivisionsof the Stateconfusing. Paragraph
30 of the Working Group’s report showed how a
reformulation of paragraph 1 (b) of article2wouldread if
the Commission’ s suggestions were to be adopted.

6. Paragraphs 31 to 60 of the Working Group’ s report
dealt with criteria for determining the commercial
character of acontract or transaction, and paragraphs 56
to 60 contained the Commission’s suggestions on that
issue. As explained in paragraph 32 of the Working
Group’ sreport, paragraphs1(c), 2and 3 of article 2 of the
Commission’s draft took the view that a State enjoyed
restricted immunity, namely that jurisdictional immunity
should not beenjoyed by aState undertakingacommercial
activity. That restrictiveapproachrai sed asoneof themain
issues that of the definition of “commercial transaction”
for the purpose of State immunity. In that respect, while
some States considered that only the nature of the activity
should betakenintoaccountindeterminingwhetheritwas
commercial or not, other States considered that the
“nature” criterion alone did not always permit a court to
reach aconclusiononwhether an activity wascommercial
or not. Therefore, recourse must sometimesbe madetothe
“purpose” criterion, which examined whether the act had
been undertaken with a commercial or a governmental
purpose. Although several different proposals had been
made as to how to integrate the two tests, no common
solution had emerged from that practice. Paragraph 1 (c)
and paragraph 2 of article 2 constituted an attempt to



A/C.6/54/SR.18

integrate the two criteriabut it had so far met with some
resistance on the part of States.

7.  Initssuggestions, the Commissionmadeit clear that
the issue of which criteriato apply in order to determine
thecommercial character of acontract or transactionarose
only if the parties had not agreed on the application of a
specific criterion and the applicable legislation did not
requireotherwise. The Commission further indicated that
thecriteriacontemplatedinnational |egislationor applied
by national courts offered some variety, including,
inter alia, the nature of the act and its purpose or motive,
aswell as some other complementary criteria such asthe
location of the activity and the circumstances of the act.

8. The Commission had indicated all the possible
alternatives examined by the Working Group when
consideringtheissue, namely: (a) thenaturetest asthesole
criterion; (b) the nature test as a primary criterion (in
which casethesecond half of article2, paragraph 2, would
bedeleted); (c) thenaturetest supplemented by thepurpose
test with a declaration by each State about the internal
legal rules or policy it would apply in that area; (d) the
naturetest supplemented by the purposetest; (e) thenature
test supplemented by the purpose test with some
restrictions on the extent of “purpose” or with some
enumeration of “purposes’. Such restrictions or
enumeration should be broader than a mere reference to
some humanitarian grounds; (f) referenceinarticle2 only
to*commercial contractsor transactions”, without further
explication; and (g) adoption of the approach followed by
the Institut de Droit International in its 1991
recommendations, which were based on an enumeration
of criteriaand abalancing of principles, inorder to define
the competence of the court in relation to jurisdictional
immunity in agiven case. Thetext of thelnstitut de Droit
International was to be found in a note appended to the
Working Group’ s report.

9.  After considering the matter, and in view of the
differences of the facts in each case and different legal
traditions, the Commissionhad decidedthat alternative(f),
namely, the deletion of paragraph 2, was the most
acceptable, since the distinction between the nature and
purposetests might belesssignificant in practicethanthe
long debateonthat subject mightimply. 1t had al sodecided
that some of the criteria contained in the draft article
proposed by the Institut de Droit International could offer
useful guidance to national courts and tribunals in
determining whether immunity should be granted in
specific instances.

10. Paragraphs 61 to 83 of the Working Group’ s report
dealt with the concept of a State enterprise or other entity
inrelationtocommercial transactions, and paragraphs 78
to 83 contained the Commission’s suggestions on that
issue. Paragraph 3 of article 10 of the draft adopted by the
Commission in 1991 provided that the immunity from
jurisdiction enjoyed by a State should not be affected with
regard to a proceeding which related to a commercial
transaction engagedin by aStateenterpriseor other entity
established by the State which had an independent legal
personality and was capable of: (a) suing or being sued,
and (b) acquiring, owning or possessing and disposing of
property, including property which the State had
authorized it to operate or manage.

11. That provisionhad caused somereactionintheSixth
Committee in previous years. It had been felt that, in
exceptional cases, it might be appropriateto disregardthe
separate legal personality of a State enterprise or other
entity. For instance, a State enterprise might conclude a
commercial transaction on behalf of the Government or
execute it as the authorized agent of the State. In such
cases, the contract might be regarded as a transaction
between the State and the private party, and the State
should not be able to invoke immunity. It had also been
argued that a State should not be able to invoke immunity
incaseswhereit wasacting asaguarantor of an entity, and
that it should also be held accountable when a State entity
had deliberately misrepresented its financial position or
had subsequently reduced its assets to avoid satisfying a
claim.

12. TheChairman of theinformal consultationsheldin
1994 had suggested, as a possible basis for compromise,
that article 10, paragraph 3, could be clarified by
indicating that theimmunity of a State would not apply to
liability claims in relation to a commercial transaction
engaged in by a State enterpriseor other entity established
by that State where: (a) the State enterprise or other entity
engaged in a commercial transaction as an authorized
agent of the State; (b) the State was acting as a guarantor
of theliability of the enterprise; or (c) the State entity had
deliberately misrepresented its financial position or
subsequently reduceditsassetsto avoid satisfyingaclaim.
That clarification could be achieved either by
characterizing the acts referred to under (a) and (b) as
commercial acts or by a common understanding to that
effect at the time of the adoption of article 10.

13. The Commission had also considered the third
ground for State liability suggested in the basis for
compromise, namely, “where the State entity has
deliberately misrepresented its financial position or



A/C.6/54/SR.18

subsequently reduceditsassetstoavoidsatisfyingaclaim”.
The Commission had judged that the suggestion went
beyond the scope of article 10 and addressed a number of
guestions: immunity from jurisdiction, immunity from
execution and the question of the propriety of piercing the
corporateveil of State entitiesin certain cases. Moreover,
it did not take into account the question of whether the
Stateentity, in so acting, acted onitsown or oninstruction
from the State. The Commission had noted that the idea
of piercing the corporate veil raised questions of a
substantive nature and questions of immunity, but had not
considered it appropriate to deal with them in the
framework of its current mandate.

14. Paragraphs84to 107 of the Working Group’ sreport
referred to contracts of employment, and paragraphs 103
to 107 contained the Working Group’s and the
Commission’s suggestions on that issue. Article 11,
paragraph 1, of the draft adopted by the Commission in
1991 laiddownthegeneral principlethat, unlessotherwise
agreed between the States concerned, a State could not
invokeimmunity fromjurisdictionbeforeacourt of another
State which was otherwise competent in a proceeding
which related to a contract of employment. Paragraph 2
listed the exceptions to that principle, including the
exceptioninsubparagraph (a) concerning anemployeewho
had been recruited to perform functions closely related to
the exercise of governmental authority and that in
subparagraph (c) concerning an employeewhowasneither
anational nor ahabitual resident of the State of theforum
at the time when the contract had been concluded.

15. Those two exceptions to the principle had elicited
divergent viewsin the Sixth Committeein previousyears
and, in particular, in theinformal consultationsin 1994.
Paragraph 87 of theWorking Group’ sreport recalled that,
withregardto subparagraph (a), therehad been aquestion
astowhether the phrase“ closely rel ated to the exercise of
governmental authority” wassufficiently cleartofacilitate
itsapplication by courts. With regard to subparagraph (c),
it had been suggested that the provision could not be
reconciled with the principle of non-discrimination based
on nationality. The Chairman of the 1994 informal
consultationshad proposed clarifying the phrasecontained
in subparagraph (a) and del eting subparagraph (c) in the
light of the principle of non-discrimination.

16. After careful consideration, the Commission had
made a number of suggestions. In subparagraph (a) of
paragraph 2, the Commission had suggested that in the
phrase “perform functions closely related to the exercise
of governmental authority” thewords* closely related to”
could be deleted in order to restrict the scope of the

subparagraph to “persons performing functions in the
exercise of governmental authority”. It had also been
agreed that the subparagraph could befurther clarified by
stating clearly that paragraph 1 of article 11 would not
apply if the employee had been recruited to perform
functions in the exercise of governmental authority; that
meant in particular: (i) diplomatic staff and consular
officers, as defined in the 1961 Vienna Convention on
Diplomatic Relationsand the 1963 Vienna Convention on
Consular Relations; (ii) diplomatic staff of special missions
and permanent missionstointernational organizations; and
(iii) persons enjoying diplomatic immunity, such as
persons recruited to represent a State in international
conferences.

17. With regard to article 11, paragraph 2 (c), the
Commission had recommended that it should be del eted,
as it could not be reconciled with the principle of non-
discrimination based on nationality. Such deletion,
however, should not prejudge on the possible
inadmissibility of the claim on grounds other than State
immunity, such as the lack of jurisdiction of the forum
State. Inthat regard, the Commission had noted apossible
uncertainty in paragraph 1 of article 11, concerning the
meaning of thewords*inpart”. The Commission believed
that it might be desirableto reflect explicitly in article 11
the distinction between therightsand duties of individual
employees and questions of the general policy of
employment, which essentially concerned management
issues of the employing State.

18. Paragraphs108to 129 of theWorking Group’ sreport
referred to the issue of “measures of constraint against
State property”, and paragraphs 125 to 129 contained the
suggestions of the Group and the Commission on that
issue. The draft articles adopted in 1991 made a clear
distinction between immunity from jurisdiction and
immunity from measuresof constraint. Withregard to the
latter, article 18 established the general principlethat no
measures of constraint, such as attachment, arrest and
execution, against property of a State might be taken in
connection with a proceeding before a court of another
State unless: (a) the State had consented; (b) the State had
allocated or earmarked property for the satisfaction of the
claim which was the object of the proceeding; or (c) the
property which was the object of a measure of constraint
was specifically in use or intended for use by the State for
other than government non-commercial purposesandwas
in the territory of the State of the forum and had a
connection with the claim which was the object of the
proceeding or with the agency or instrumentality against
which the proceeding was directed. For itspart, article 19



A/C.6/54/SR.18

listedthecategoriesof property of aStatewhich should not
be considered as property specifically in use or intended
for use by the State for other than government non-
commercial purposes.

19. The consideration by the Sixth Committee of those
provisionshad rai sed anumber of problemsinrecentyears.
There were different views as to whether the exercise of
jurisdiction by a court in proceedings to determine the
meritsof aclaim against aforeign Stateimplied the power
to take measures of constraint against the property of that
State with a view to satisfying a valid judgement
confirming the claim. Even if such a power was
recognized, there were also different views as to which
property might be subject to measures of constraint. Any
attempt to reconcile the different views on those issues
would need to take into account the interests of a Statein
minimizing the interference with its activities resulting
from coercive measures taken against its property aswell
astheinterests of aprivate party in obtaining satisfaction
of aclaim against aforeign State that had been confirmed
by an authoritative judicial pronouncement.

20. Paragraph 118 of theWorking Group’ sreport set out
the possible basis for a compromise. For its part, the
Commission was of the view that a distinction between
prejudgement and post-judgement measures of constraint
might help sort out the difficulties inherent in that issue,
even though both types of measures were subject to the
conditions of article 19 concerning property for
government non-commercial purposes.

21. Withregardto prejudgement measuresof constraint,
the Commission was of the view that they should be
possibleonly inthefollowing cases: (a) measuresonwhich
the State had expressly consented either ad hoc or in
advance; (b) measureson property designatedto satisfy the
claim; (c) measures available under internationally
accepted provisions(legesspecialis), suchas, forinstance,
ship arrest, under the Brussels International Convention
relating to the arrest of seagoing ships; and (d) measures
involving property of an agency enjoying separate legal
personality, if it was the respondent of the claim. The
Commission believed that the above list might not be
exhaustive.

22. With regard to post-judgement measures of
constraint, the Commission was of the view that they
shouldbepossibleonlyinthefollowing cases: (a) measures
on which the State had expressly consented either ad hoc
or inadvance; and (b) measures on designated property to
satisfy the claim. That list, too, might not be exhaustive.
Moreover, the Commissionhad exploredthreealternatives

which the Assembly might decide to follow. The first
alternative might consist of granting to the State a grace
period of two to three months to comply with the
judgement as well as freedom to determine property for
execution. If no compliance occurred during the grace
period, property of the State could be the object of
execution, subject to article 19. The first element of the
second alternative was the same as that of the first
alternative. If, however, nocomplianceoccurredduringthe
grace period, the claim would be brought into the field of
inter-State dispute settlement; that would imply the
initiation of dispute settlement proceduresin connection
withthespecificissueof execution of theclaim. Lastly, the
Assembly might decide not to deal with that aspect of the
draft, because of the complex and delicate aspects of the
issues involved. The matter would then be left to State
practice. The title of the topic and of the draft would be
amended accordingly.

23. Lastly, the report contained in an appendix a short
background paper onanother i ssuewhichmight berel evant
for thetopic of jurisdictional immunities. It concernedthe
guestion of theexistenceor non-existenceof jurisdictional
immunity in actions arising, inter alia, out of violations
of jus cogens norms; rather than taking up the question
directly, the Working Group had decided to bring it to the
attention of the Sixth Committee.

24. Ms. Hallum (New Zealand), Vice-Chairman, took
the Chair.

25.  Mr. Sepulveda (Mexico) saidthat hewould consider
first the draft articles on nationality of natural personsin
relation to the succession of States and then the draft
articlesonjurisdictional immunitiesof States. Withregard
tothefirsttopic, hewelcomedthefact that the Commission
had compl eted the second reading in such ashort time, but
regretted that it had omitted the study of nationality of
legal persons in relation to the succession of States; it
believed that guidelineswere needed onthesubject. It was
to be hoped, therefore, that the Commission would return
to the question in due course.

26. Stressing that it was particularly important to
guarantee to individuals the right to a nationality and to
prevent statel essness in the case of asuccession of States,
his delegation fully supported the draft articles, to the
extent that they preserved the rights of States in matters
of nationality, whilespecifyingtheir responsibilitiesunder
international law. His delegation also believed that the
proposed form of the draft articles, a declaration, was
consistent with the will of States.



A/C.6/54/SR.18

27. Hisdelegation noted that in the case of asuccession
of States a person could, under certain circumstances, be
entitledtomorethanonenationality; liketheCommission,
however, it believed that the draft articles should not be
understood as being intended to encourage multiple
nationality.

28. Article 3, which provided that the draft articles
applied only to the effects of a succession of States
occurringin conformity with international law, embodied
the fundamental principle of international law, namely,
that unlawful acts should not produce legal effects.
Paragraph 3 of the commentary on that article, in which
the Commission stressed that article 3 was without
prejudice to the right of everyone to a nationality in
accordancewith article 15 of the Universal Declaration of
Human Rights, seemedthereforeto bepointless, and could
even givetheimpression that asuccession of Statesnot in
conformity with international law would compel
recognition of thenationality of the personsaffected by an
unlawful act of that nature.

29. Withregardtoarticle5 (Presumptionof nationality),
hisdelegationbelievedthat, whilethecriterion of habitual
residence was extremely useful, the Commission might
have chosen, in addition, the principle of effective
nationality, which was based on the existence of an
effective link between the individual and the State.

30. The principle of respect for the will of persons
concerned was satisfactory, for, whileit took into account
the importance of attribution of nationality for an
individual, itleftthefinal decisiontothe Statesconcerned,
whichwereobligedtotakeall appropriatemeasures, based
on the links between them and the persons concerned, to
prevent statelessness. In that connection, his delegation
stressed that article 19 protected the right of other States
not to recognize the nationality of a person who had no
effectivelink withaStateconcerned. Ashisdel egation had
stated on several earlier occasions, effectivelink was one
of the main criteria applied in resolving nationality
guestions in the context of succession of States. A third
State could not, therefore, be obliged to accept an
attribution of nationality that was not in conformity with
the general principlesof international law; moreover, the
right of option enabled the person concerned to choosethe
nationality of the State with which he or she believed an
effective link existed.

31. With regard to article 7, his delegation shared the
view of the Commission that in the particular case of a
succession of States, it was useful to be able to give
retroactive effect to attribution of nationality. Such a

derogationfromthegeneral principleof non-retroactivity
of legislation, which was justified only by the risk of
statelessness, evenif only temporary, of personsconcerned,
should nonetheless retain its exceptional character.

32. Amongtheother positiveaspectsof thedraft articles,
his delegation stressed the reaffirmation of the principle
of non-discrimination, theright to anationality of achild
born after the succession of States, the prohibition of
arbitrary decisions concerning nationality issues and the
need to preserve family unity. Lastly, his delegation
believedthat Part Two of thedraft articlesmadeit possible
for those provisions to be applied in aflexible manner.

33. TheMexicandelegationwelcomedtheprogressmade
on the draft articles by the Working Group on
Jurisdictional Immunities of States and their property,
which should enable the Working Group of the Sixth
Committeeto resume consideration of pending issues. As
thetopicwasto beconsidered separately by the Committee,
his delegation would confine itself to a few general
remarks. With regard to the concept of the State for the
purposes of immunity, his delegation believed that the
Working Group’s proposals constituted a good basis for
discussion. It would be desirable, nonethel ess, to combine
“constituent units of a federal State” and “political
subdivisions of the State”, and to retain only acts
performed*” intheexerciseof thesovereignauthority of the
State”. Inthat connection, the phrase currently appearing
in bracketsin the draft articles, namely, “provided that it
was established that such entities were acting in that
capacity”, raised more problems than it solved. The
criterion of “in the exercise of the sovereign authority of
the State” seemed sufficient for the purposes of State
immunity.

34. With regard to the criteria for determining the
commercial character of a contract or transaction, the
determining factor should be the character of the contract
or transaction. Since, however, in accordance with the
practice and jurisprudence of some States, the purpose of
the contract or transaction wasan important criterion, his
delegation was willing to consider any formulation that
would makeit possibletoincludethat concept inthedraft,
while promoting the objective of legal certainty. In that
connection, theWorking Group’ sproposal todeletearticle
2, paragraph 2, of the draft articles hardly seemed
appropriate. If the possibility of determining the
commercial character of acontract or transaction was| eft
tothe courts, theresultin practicewould beamultiplicity
of regimes. His delegation believed that the question
merited thorough consideration.



A/C.6/54/SR.18

35. With regard to the concept of a State enterprise or
other entity in relation to commercial transactions, his
delegation believedthat theWorking Group’ sproposal was
ontheright track and deservedtobestudied carefully. The
State should not be able to invoke immunity in liability
proceedings relating to acommercial transaction carried
out by a State enterprise or other entity established by it if
that entity had acted as an agent of the State, the
transaction had acommercial character and the State had
served as guarantor of the performance of the relevant
obligation.

36. The Mexican delegation took note of the appendix
to the report of the Working Group concerning recent
developmentsrelated to immunities, especially insofar as
peremptory norms of international law were concerned.
LiketheCommission, it believed that such questionswere
not dealt withdirectly inthedraft articlesonjurisdictional
immunities of States and their property, but that the
evolution of the principlesreferred to would have amajor
impact on the international legal order and relations
between States.

37. Mr.Rebagliati (Argentina) drew theattention of the
Commission to three aspects of the topic of jurisdictional
immunities of States and their property. In hisview, the
first issue dealt with by the Working Group, namely, the
concept of a State for the purposes of immunity, raised
problems of formulation rather than substance. As his
delegation had stated on earlier occasions, the concepts of
“constituent units of a federal State” and “political
subdivisions of the State” were not clearly differentiated
and appearedtooverlap. Hisdel egationtheref ore proposed
the following wording, based on the Working Group’s
proposal: “constituent units of a federal State or other
political subdivisions of the State called upon to exercise
sovereign authority”.

38. Withregard to the sensitive question of the criteria
to be applied in determining whether an activity was
commercial or not, hisdel egation agreed withtheWorking
Group that the distinction between the naturetest and the
purposetest wassurely less problematic and controversial
in practice than it was in theory. That was why his
delegation believed, like the Working Group, that
eliminating any reference to nature or purpose was the
most acceptabl esol ution. That hadinfact beenthesolution
adopted by Argentine legislation in 1994.

39. Lastly, hisdelegationwishedtodraw attentiontothe
issueof immunity fromexecution. Thedraft articlesshould
includeprovisionsspecifying the casesinwhich measures
of constraint could be taken, in the context of judicial

proceedings, against the property of a State. Without such
provisions, the draft articles would have little impact.
Therewasindeed little point in listing the casesin which
a State could not oppose jurisdictional immunity if there
were no provisions for enforcing the judgement. The
number of casesshould, of course, belimited, but they must
be clearly identified. In that connection, his delegation
found thedistinction made by the Working Group between
prejudgement and post-judgement measures of constraint
tobeuseful and consideredtheproposed casesof exclusion
from immunity from execution to be satisfactory. The
contribution of the Working Group should facilitate the
debatewhichwould soontakeplaceinthe Sixth Committee
and hel ptobring viewpointstogether, thereby accel erating
the holding of a conference for the drafting of a general
convention on that important question.

40. Mr. Lammers (Netherlands) said that his country
was aware of the problematic nature of the topic of
jurisdictional immunities of States and their property, on
whichtherewasaconsiderabledivergenceof viewsamong
States. Sincere efforts should nevertheless be made to
harmonize the rules of international law governing that
topic as far as possible without jeopardizing the right of
privatepartiestolegal protectionintheir transactionswith
foreign States. It was in that spirit that his delegation
wished to present its comments on the draft articles
adopted in 1991, taking into account the work of the
Working Groups established by the General Assembly in
1992 and 1993, and by the Commission in May 1999.

41. Hisdelegation had taken note of the observation in
paragraph 2 of the Commission’s commentary on article
2thatthedraft articlesdid not cover criminal proceedings.
Perhaps it would be better to include that provision in
article 1, which dealt with the scope of the articles. His
delegation further wondered to what extent the draft
articles would apply to civil law claims presented in
connection with criminal proceedings.

42. Ingeneral, hisdelegation agreed withthe definition
of the concept of State for the purposes of immunity
formulated by the Working Group in paragraph 30 of its
July 1999 report. However, the bracketed text in article 2,
paragraph 1 (b) (ii), should be replaced by the words
“whenever performing such acts’, and the same words
should be added in paragraph 1 (b) (iii). His delegation
also preferred areference to “ sovereign authority” to the
term “ governmental authority”, which might be giventoo
broad an interpretation.

43. Theconcept of “commercial transaction” appearing
in article 2, paragraph 1 (c), and the criteria for



A/C.6/54/SR.18

determining whether a contract or transaction was a
“commercial transaction” remained problematic. His
delegation preferred the definition proposed by the
Chairman of the 1993 Working Group, contained in
paragraph 35 of document A/C.6/48/L .4, as it was more
logical. The description of the criteria used to determine
whether or not a transaction was commercial was even
moreproblematic. Inhiscountry, caselaw hardly tookinto
consideration the purpose of a transaction, and the text
proposed in article 2, paragraph 2, of the draft articles
would be a step back in comparison with existing
Netherlands case law. Moreover, the reference to the
practice of the State which was a party to the transaction
would lead to the application of a double standard by the
Netherlands courts, which would bedifficult to explainto
a private party. His delegation had taken note of the
proposal made by the Working Group, given the existing
diversity of State practice, to abstain from defining any
criteriafor determining whether or not a transaction was
commercial.

44. Withregardto proceedingsinwhich Stateimmunity
could not be invoked (arts. 10 ff.), his delegation had
difficulty understanding the purpose and meaning of
article 10, paragraph 3, which stated that a State's
immunity from jurisdiction would not be affected with
regard to a proceeding which related to a commercial
transaction engagedin by aStateenterpriseor other entity
established by the Stateto carry out exclusively commercial
transactions which had an independent legal personality
and met certain conditions. The paragraph should be
deleted, as it stated the obvious and might lead to
confusion.

45. With regard to article 11, concerning employment
contracts, hisdel egation proposed del eting paragraph 2 (c)
inorder toavoiddiscriminationintreatment between non-
nationals of the employer State who were not national s or
habitual residents of the forum State and non-national s of
theemployer Statewhowerenational sor habitual residents
of the forum State. With regard to article 12, which dealt
with proceedingsfor redressfor injury or damagesustained
in the territory of the forum State and caused by the
activities of a State in the territory of the forum State, he
notedthat, accordingto paragraph 10 of theCommission’s
commentary, that article did not apply to situations of
armed conflict. His delegation believed that that was an
extremely important limitation and that it should be made
explicit in article 12 or elsewhere in the draft articles.
Attention might al sobedrawninthat connectiontoarticle
31 of the European Convention on State | mmunity, which
explicitly providedthat nothinginthat Conventionshould

affect any State immunity in respect of acts of its armed
forceswhen ontheterritory of another State. Ascurrently
worded, article 12 did not appear to cover cases of
transboundary environmental damage, and he wondered
why that was the case.

46. Hisdelegationwasbasically satisfiedwiththecurrent
text of article 16, concerning ships owned or operated by
a State, but believed that similar provisions should be
addedto cover aircraft owned or operated by aState. Asto
article 17, dealing with the effect of an arbitration
agreement, there was no reason why its operation should
be limited to differences relating solely to commercial
transactions.

47. With regard to State immunity from measures of
constraint, article 18 was much more restrictive than
current case law of the Netherlands courts, and he hoped
that theCommissionwouldtakeal essrestrictiveapproach.
Inparticular, it shoulddel etetherequirement in paragraph
1 (c) that there must always be a connection between the
property subject to ameasure of constraint and the claim
which wasthe object of the proceeding or with the agency
or instrumentality against which the proceeding was
directed. Article 19, defining specific categories of
property which remained immune from measures of
constraint, wasuseful. However thewords*held by it for
central banking purposes” should be added at the end of
paragraph 1 (c).

48. His delegation had taken note with interest of the
observationsmadeby theWorking Group ondevel opments
in the area of immunity from jurisdiction, in which
immunity wasdeniedinthecaseof death or personal injury
resulting from acts of a Statein violation of human rights
norms having the character of jus cogens, particularly the
prohibition of torture. Recent devel opmentswhich would
also affect the scope of the present article 12 should be
taken fully into account in further work on the draft
articles.

49. Mr. Berman (United Kingdom) welcomed the fact
that the Commission had completed its work on the topic
of nationality inrelation to the succession of Stateswhile
avoiding its earlier excessive concentration on the
problems of nationality raised by decolonization. He
wondered, however, why the Commission had decided to
recommend that the General Assembly should adopt the
draft articlesin theform of adeclaration, when they were
unmistakably normative and not declarative in their
wording, and hoped that the Assembly would specify inits
resolution why it was adopting the declaration. There
seemedtobealack of consistency betweenarticle6, which



A/C.6/54/SR.18

required States to adopt legislation on nationality and
rel ated i ssues, and subsequent draft articlesinwhich States
were called upon to fulfil a variety of obligations; he
wondered whether those obligations were supposed to be
incorporated in national legislation or wereto befulfilled
regardless of what thelegislation provided. That aspect of
thedraft, in hisview, required clarification. It would also
be wise to clarify whether the provision in article 17
requiring effective review of decisions on nationality
applied also to arbitrary deprivation of nationality,
contemplated in article 16, and discrimination in matters
of nationality, which was covered by article 15. Lastly, he
agreed with the Commission that the silence on the part of
Governments meant that they concurred that work on the
topic of nationality in relation to the succession of States
could beconsidered concluded, although the possibility of
reopening theissuein the event that States expressed the
desire to do so was not excluded. However, the
humanitarian concerns which had guided the elaboration
of the draft articles would not be applicable to the debate
on the nationality of companies and commercial entities.

50. Withregardtothejurisdictional immunitiesof States
and their property, the Commission was still far from
completing its work, despite the desire of lawyers for
agreement on a code that would cover all aspects of the
problem. In view of the rapid changes occurring in the
system of international trade, it was appropriate to ask
whether the Commission should continue its work along
the same lines and codify that important branch of
international trade law at the risk of freezing it and
limiting its scopeto certain issues, thereby creating agap
between reality and law, or whether the Commission
shouldinstead berealistic, recognizingthat Stateimmunity
wasclosely linked to the devel opment of amodern system
of international trade, and turn to the elaboration of a
model law, which, without being binding, would allow
States that wished to modernize their legislation to do so
andwouldleaveroomfor practicetodevelop. A model law
would preserve theinval uable work that the Commission
and the Sixth Committee had achieved in that area and
would be an attractive way of completing thework on the
topic.

51. Mr.Kanehara (Japan) saidthat althoughmany years
had passed sincethe General Assembly hadfirst turnedits
attention to the draft articles on the jurisdictional
immunities of Statesand their property submitted to it by
the International Law Commission, the topic of State
immunity had lost noneof itsimportancefor international
law and conti nued to divideopinionamong M ember States,
with some advocating more restrictive rules and others

espousing absolute immunity. During the cold war era
those differences had been understandable, but on the
threshold of the twenty-first century they no longer had a
rationale. The fading of the system of State-controlled
economies, rather than limiting the scope of State
activities, had in fact coincided with an extension of the
public sphere to many branches of the private sector asa
result of changesinthenatureof the State. Those changes
had undermined the doctrine of absoluteimmunity. It was
the task of the Sixth Committee to follow up on the work
done by the Commission, particularly the Working Group
onthetopic, andto givelegal expressiontothe new forms
the conduct of the State might take in the future by
formulating a universally acceptable, restricted doctrine
of immunity. It was regrettable that the Sixth Committee
had allocated only three daysto thetopic, whereasat | east
one week of debate would be necessary to consider it
properly. 1f the Sixth Committeedid not haveenoughtime,
it might wish to consider sending the issue back to the
Commission.

52. One of the thorniest issues in the debate on State
immunity wasthecriteriafor determiningthecommercial
character of acontract or transaction under article 2, with
the debate centring on whether the nature test or the
purpose test should prevail. His delegation doubted
whether that debate was actually useful to the judges who
wouldrender decisionsinthat area; inview of thediversity
of State practice, it might be wiser to recognize that
international law in that area was still evolving, without
trying to decide which practices were too radical or too
conservative. The aim of the Sixth Committee should be
to offer guidance, not to freeze the development of that
branch of law. Thereweretwo possiblesolutions. Thefirst
wasto end the debate on the nature and purpose tests and
to delete article 2, paragraph 2, as the Commission’s
Working Group had suggested. In that case it would be
appropriate to add a provision reducing the scope of
paragraph 1 (c) (iii) toreflect theruleof international law
that the determining factor in the attribution by national
judges of immunity to foreign States should be the
commercial character of acontract or transaction. In that
connection, the approach taken by the Institut de Droit
International in its 1991 recommendations, which
containedalist of criteriaand balanced variousprinciples,
could offer useful guidance. The second solutionwould be
to accord primary status to the nature test and
supplementary statustothe purposetest, depending onthe
legal tradition or policy of each State.

53. Measures of constraint was another difficult issue
whichthe Commission must examineindepth, sincethere



A/C.6/54/SR.18

was no established rule of law in that area. While it was
possible to bring proceedings against aforeign Statein a
national court, it was not easy to enforce judgements
against it. Great prudence must be exercised in enforcing
judgements against a State: efforts must be made to
convince the State to execute the judgement voluntarily,
and it should be given a period within which to comply
before any measures of constraint were contemplated,
although at present no national legal system seemed to
have such a provision. Moreover, as the Working Group
had noted, even greater caution was required when a
national court dealt with prejudgement measures, since
they weretaken beforeany ruling onthe meritsof the case
was made.

54. With regard to the concept of a State enterprisein
relation to commercial transactions, he noted it was true
that some State enterprises were financially independent
and legally separate from the State and that denying them
immunity did not imply a denial of State immunity;
however, there were cases, as the Working Group had
rightly noted, in which the State could not invoke
immunity, such as when a State enterprise engaged in a
commercial transaction asan authorized agent of the State
or when the Statewasacti ng asguarantor of an enterprise.

55. With regard to contracts of employment, inasmuch
asarticle 11 of thedraft articlesattempted to reconcilethe
interests of theforeign State and those of the forum State,
his delegation appreciated the Commission’s efforts to
clarify paragraph 1 (a). It concurred with the Working
Group that paragraphs1 (c) and 1 (d) werecontrary tothe
principle of non-discrimination based on nationality and
should therefore be deleted. Nationality did not provide
grounds for denying legal protection or theright to bring
aclaim against a State, particularly when the interested
party was a permanent resident of the forum State.

The meeting rose at 5.10 p.m.

10



